2016

**Ryan Uresk Harvey, Rocks Off, Inc. And Wild Cat Rentals, Inc.,
Plaintiffs/Appellants, vs. Ute Indian Tribe of the Uintah and Ouray
Reservation, Et Al., Defendants/ Appellees.**

Utah Court of Appeals

III. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this case pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78A-3-102(3)(j). The case was assigned to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78A-103(2)(j).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

A. Did the trial court err in concluding that the Ute Indian Tribe of the Uintah and Ouray Reservation (“Tribe”) is a necessary and indispensable party as to causes of action which are state law claims brought against Tribal officials for *ultra vires* acts as well as other parties who are not affiliated with the Tribe, which occurred outside of Ute Tribal land and within the State of Utah?

The standard for review is an abuse of discretion standard. *See Seftel v. Capital City Bank*, 767 P.2d 941, 947 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). Although not necessary to preserve this issue, this issue was preserved in the trial court. R. 198-200, 203-217, 259-272.

B. Did the trial court err in not concluding that the state’s interests in promoting fair and competitive business activity free from unlawful interference from foreign powers, by protecting non-Indian state residents, who compose roughly 95% of the area population, state small businesses, and the oil and gas industry, which is the lifeblood of the local economy, outweigh the interests of the Tribe in regulating non-Indian business activities that occur within the state and outside of Ute Tribal land, the jurisdiction of the Tribe, and within the jurisdiction of the State of Utah?

This is a jurisdictional issue and the standard for review is under a correction of error standard. The trial court's ruling is given no deference. *Barton v. Barton*, 2001 UT App 199, ¶7, 29 P.3d 13. This issue was preserved in the trial court. R. 1483-1499.

C. Did the trial court err in granting the Utah R. of Civ. P. 12(b)(6) motions to dismiss filed by various defendants?

The standard for review is under a correction of error standard. The trial court's ruling is given no deference. *See St. Benedict's Dev. Co. v. St. Benedict's Hosp.*, 811 P.2d 194, 196 (Utah 1991) (*cited authorities omitted*).

As it relates to the tort of extortion, the trial court found as a matter of law that the State of Utah does not recognize this cause of action. This issue of first impression presents a question of law and the trial court is given no deference. *Id.* These issues were preserved in the trial court. R. 664-685, 689-703.

D. Did the trial court err in concluding that the tribal officials are immune from suit, where the conduct complained of violates state law, occurred outside of Ute Tribal land within the State of Utah, and outside the jurisdiction of the Tribe?

This is a jurisdictional issue and the standard for review is under a correction of error standard. The trial court's ruling is given no deference. *Barton v. Barton*, 2001 UT App 199, ¶7. This issue was preserved in the trial court. R. 1151-1179.

E. Did the trial court err in finding that the Tribe did not waive sovereign immunity, by making a general appearance in state court and seeking affirmative relief from the state court beyond a dismissal on the grounds of jurisdiction?

The standard for review is under a correction of error standard and the trial court's ruling is given no deference. *State v. Reber*, 2007 UT 36 ¶8, 171 P.3d 406. This issue was preserved in the trial court. R. 1458-1465

F. Did the trial court err by not allowing supplemental pleadings, where Plaintiffs/Appellants sought leave to plead supplemental facts which did not occur until well after the complaint was drafted and during periods the action was stayed in state court?

A Utah R. of Civ. P. 15(d) motion is "addressed to the sound discretion of the court, and leave to serve a supplemental pleading 'should be liberally granted unless good reason exists for denying leave.'" *Sw. Nurseries, LLC v. Florists Mut. Ins., Inc.*, 266 F. Supp. 2d 1253, 1256, (D. Colo. 2003) (*quoted authority omitted*). "Refusing leave to amend is generally only justified upon a showing of undue delay, undue prejudice to the opposing party, bad faith or dilatory motive, failure to cure deficiencies by amendments previously allowed, or futility of amendment." *Frank v. U.S. West, Inc.*, 3 F.3d 1357, 1365 (10th Cir. 1993). This issue was preserved in the trial court. R. 1469-1482.

V. STATEMENT OF STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS

OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THE APPEAL

1. Utah R. of Civ. P. 19:

Joinder of persons needed for just adjudication.

See Aplt. Addendum Page 2

2. UTAH CONST. art. XII § 19 [Blacklisting forbidden]

Each person in Utah is free to obtain and enjoy employment whenever possible, and a person or corporation, or their agent,

servant, or employee may not maliciously interfere with any person from obtaining employment or enjoying employment already obtained from any other person or corporation.

3. UTAH CONST. art. XVI § 4 [Exchange of blacklists prohibited]

The exchange of black lists by railroad companies, or other corporations, associations or persons is prohibited.

VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs filed suit in the trial court asserting several state law claims, including tortious interference with economic relations, extortion, unlawful restraint of trade, blacklisting and civil conspiracy against Defendants Cesspooch, LaRose and Wopsock, as well as other defendants, who were added in the amended complaint, including Newfield Exploration Company, Newfield Rocky Mountains, Inc., Newfield RMI, LLC, L.C. Welding & Construction, Inc. Scamp Excavation, Inc., Huffman Enterprises, Inc., LaRose Construction Company, Inc., and D.Ray C. Enterprises, L.L.C. Plaintiffs' relief requested included a request for declaratory judgment that "the assertion of Tribal jurisdiction as a defense to Plaintiffs' claims is unavailing, as the Tribe lacks jurisdiction" over certain land categories set forth in the pleading.

On September 20, 2013, the Tribe removed the case to federal court. Following the filing of the removal notice, Plaintiffs filed a motion requesting remand to the state court. On July 1, 2014, the Federal District Court granted Plaintiffs' motion (the "Remand Order"). The Tribe appealed the Remand Order to the 10th Circuit Court of Appeals. By opinion entered August 13, 2015, the Remand Order was upheld. The trial

court granted motions to dismiss filed by various Defendants resulting in the dismissal of all of Plaintiffs' claims on May 12, 2016.

A. FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Procedural Facts

The Verified Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief ("Original Complaint") was filed by Plaintiffs in this matter on April 5, 2013. R. 1-21. The Original Complaint identified four Defendants (collectively referred to as the "Initial Defendants"), the Ute Indian Tribe of the Uintah and Ouray Reservation (the "Tribe"), Dino Cesspooch, individually and as a Ute Tribal Employment Rights Office ("UTERO") Commissioner, Jackie LaRose, individually and as a UTERO Commissioner, and Sheila Wopsock, individually and as the UTERO Director. R. 1-21.

The complaint sought declaratory judgment with respect to the Tribe's and tribal official's exercise of authority over non-Indians in certain categories of land. R. 1-21. The complaint then alleged two state law causes of action, tortious interference with economic relations and extortion, against the tribal officials for their *ultra vires* actions which damaged Plaintiffs. R. 1-21.

On May 1, 2013, J. Preston Stieff filed an Entry of Special Appearance and a motion to dismiss the complaint on behalf of the Initial Defendants. R. 198-200, 203-217. The Initial Defendants asserted four basic arguments to support dismissal, including that the court lacked jurisdiction due to insufficient process and insufficient service of process, the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction in the absence of a valid waiver of sovereign immunity, the court lacked jurisdiction over necessary and indispensable

parties, and the court lacked jurisdiction because Plaintiffs failed to exhaust administrative remedies. R. 203-217.

The Initial Defendants requested that the state court interpret and make conclusions of law related to the issue of sovereign immunity. R. 203-217. This included requests that the state court analyze and interpret the waiver provisions of the UTERO Ordinance, and the Law and Order Code of the Ute Indian Tribe. R. 203-217. Affidavits were presented to the state court and it was requested that the state court dismiss the case based on the “facts and legal authorities” cited in the memorandum supporting the motion to dismiss. R. 218-220, 203-217.

The Initial Defendants also filed two motions requesting *pro hac vice* admission for two attorneys for the Tribe. R. 398-400, 405-407 and those motions were granted by respective orders on June 11, 2013. R. 419-422. On July 8, 2013, Patrick Boice filed his Notice of Substitution of Counsel, for Defendants Cesspooch, LaRose and Wopsock. R. 427-428.

Plaintiffs filed their motion requesting leave to amend the complaint on July 17, 2013. R. 431-435. The amended complaint (“Amended Complaint”) seeks a declaration that “the assertion of Tribal jurisdiction as a defense to Plaintiffs’ claims is unavailing, as the Tribe lacks jurisdiction” over certain land categories set forth in the amended complaint, and then asserts several state law claims, including tortious interference with economic relations, extortion, unlawful restraint of trade, blacklisting and civil conspiracy against Defendants Cesspooch, LaRose and Wopsock, as well as other Defendants, who were added in the Amended Complaint, including Newfield Exploration

Company, Newfield Rocky Mountains, Inc., Newfield RMI, LLC, L.C. Welding & Construction, Inc., Scamp Excavation, Inc., Huffman Enterprises, Inc., LaRose Construction Company, Inc. and D.Ray C. Enterprises, L.L.C. R. 548-579.

Not all Defendants are implicated in each cause of action and no causes of action are asserted against the Tribe other than defensive declaratory relief nor are any damages sought from the Tribe pursuant to the Amended Complaint. R. 548-579. The sole relief sought respecting the Tribe is defensive declaratory relief that assertion of Tribal jurisdiction in certain land categories outside the jurisdiction of the Tribe does not defeat Plaintiffs' state law claims against the other parties. R. 548-579.

On July 22, 2013, the state court held the hearing on the Initial Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. The parties argued every element of the motion, including issues as to service, sovereign immunity, indispensable parties and exhaustion of administrative remedies. R. 198-200, 203-217. In terms of service, the Tribe argued, among other things, that service of process on the Tribe would need to be completed through the Ute Tribal Court, that all six (6) members of the Business Committee (the governing body of the Tribe) must be served, that the summons and complaint must be domesticated by the Ute Tribal Court and that the Ute Tribal Court must be petitioned to authorize service. R. 371-379.

The state court rendered a partial decision rejecting the Tribe's argument as to service requirements on the Tribe, by allowing service by mail on the Tribe and Defendant Wopsock. R. 508-507. Defendants Cesspooch and LaRose had already been personally served in May 2013.

The court also afforded all parties the opportunity to brief the issue of whether the Initial Defendants had made a general appearance rather than a special appearance by including items other than service issues in their motion to dismiss. The parties were allowed until August 2, 2013 to brief the issue. R. 508-511. Plaintiffs, the Tribe, and Defendants Cesspooch, LaRose and Wopsock subsequently briefed the issue and it was pending before the trial court at the time of the removal to federal court. R. 484-490, 493-495, 498-499. At the July hearing, the trial court then took the remaining issues under advisement.

The Initial Defendants did not oppose the motion to amend the complaint, and, on August 16, 2013, the state court entered its order permitting the amending of the complaint. R. 519-520. The Amended Complaint was served on Defendants, and returns were filed with the state court. R. 526-530, 533-536, 537-544, 582-603, 607-618, 622-625.

The Tribe filed a notice of removal on September 20, 2013. R. 629-636. Plaintiffs then filed a motion requesting remand to the state court. In granting remand, the federal court observed that “th[e] defendants . . . submitted and argued a nearly identical motion to dismiss in th[at] [c]ourt as the motion originally filed and argued before the state court.” R. 648-655. The court further opined, “Thus, it seems defendants held nothing back in an effort to dispose of the matter in the first instance before the state court.” R. 648-655.

Defendants appealed the Remand Order to the 10th Circuit Court of Appeals. Defendants also filed a motion in the state court to stay the action. On October 9, 2014,

the action was stayed by the trial court during the pendency of the appeal of the Remand Order. R. 738-742, 895-900. By opinion entered August 13, 2015, the Remand Order was upheld. R. 1031-1047. The trial court granted motions to dismiss filed by various defendants resulting in the dismissal of all of Plaintiffs' claims on March 28, 2016. R. 1757-1794.

2. Facts Pleaded in Amended Complaint

The Amended Complaint consists of 33 pages. The following is a summary of the facts alleged and assumed true for purposes of the Utah R. of Civ. P. 12 motions granted by the district court and relevant to the issues on appeal.

Plaintiffs are persons and corporations domiciled in and doing business in Duchesne and Uintah Counties. R. 549-550. Plaintiffs provide dirt, sand, and gravel products, and lease heavy equipment (the "Products"). R. 553-554. Plaintiffs' business activities do not require them to access or even pass through Ute Tribal land, with operations confined to fee land outside of Ute Tribal land as defined under *Hagen v. Utah*, 510 U.S. 399, 114 S. Ct. 958 (1994). R. 553-554.

The Tribe is a federally recognized tribe with reservation lands located in Duchesne and Uintah Counties. Defendant Dino Cesspooch ("Commissioner Cesspooch" or "Cesspooch") is an appointed UTERO Commissioner, and is sued in his individual as well as his official capacity. R. 550. Defendant Jackie LaRose ("Commissioner LaRose" or "LaRose") is an appointed UTERO Commissioner, and is sued in his individual as well as his official capacity. R. 550. Defendant Sheila Wopsock ("Director Wopsock" or

“Wopsock”) is the appointed Director of the UTERO Commission, and is sued in her individual as well as her official capacity. R. 550.

Defendants, Newfield Production Company and Newfield Rocky Mountain, Inc. are Delaware corporations, Defendant Newfield RMI, LLC is a Delaware limited liability company, and Defendant Newfield Drilling Services Inc. is a Utah corporation, and all of these entities (referred to collectively herein as “Newfield”) are under common ownership and control, and are engaged in the exploration, development and production of crude oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids with production regions, employees, operations, and doing business in Duchesne and Uintah Counties. R. 550-551.

Defendant L.C. Welding & Construction, Inc. (“L.C. Welding”) is a Utah corporation. R. 551. Defendant Scamp Excavation, Inc. (“Scamp”) is a Utah corporation. R. 551. Defendant Huffman Enterprises, Inc. (“Huffman”) is a Utah corporation. R. 551. Defendant LaRose Construction Company, Inc. (“LaRose Construction”) is a Utah corporation. R. 551. Defendant D.Ray C. Enterprises, L.L.C. (“D.Ray Enterprises”) is a Utah limited liability company. R. 552. All of these entities, like Newfield do business in Utah and are subject to jurisdiction in Utah. R. 550-552.

Duchesne and Uintah Counties are located in Utah’s Uintah Basin. R. 552. The major economic force of the Uintah Basin is the oil and gas industry. R. 552. A majority of the revenue earned by Plaintiffs is generated by providing the Products to oil and gas companies. R. 553.

There are approximately 54,000 residents of Uintah and Duchesne Counties. R. 552. The Uintah and Ouray Reservation of the Ute Indian Tribe is located within the

Uintah Basin. R. 552. There are approximately 3,000 enrolled members of the Tribe. R. 553.

Since in or about September 2012, Cesspooch has harassed, threatened, bullied, and intimidated Plaintiffs by threatening to utilize his position as a UTERO Commissioner to “shut down” Plaintiffs’ businesses if UTERO certification was not obtained. R. 554. Cesspooch’s threats subjected Plaintiffs to duress because oil and gas companies, including Newfield, have “. . . cooperated with and assisted Cesspooch by refusing work and to do business with companies similar to Plaintiffs’. . .” effectively putting these companies out of business. R. 554.

Plaintiffs explained that their business operations were confined to private fee land and that they do not access or even travel through Ute Tribal land in their business operations. R. 554-555. Despite this, Cesspooch persisted in and escalated his threats, including threats to impound Plaintiffs’ heavy equipment that was located on private fee land, not within Ute Tribal land. R. 555. Under duress and in an effort to save their businesses, Plaintiffs obtained UTERO Certification in or about November 2012. R. 555-556.

Even after UTERO Certification was obtained, Cesspooch persisted in his threats. R. 556. Plaintiffs were accosted by Cesspooch at the China Star Restaurant located in Roosevelt, Utah. R. 556. Cesspooch claimed his signature on certification documents issued to Plaintiffs were no good and his signature had been forged. R. 556. At a later meeting at another restaurant in Roosevelt, Cesspooch did an about-face and informed Plaintiffs that their UTERO Certification was good. R. 557.

In February 2013, while Plaintiffs were traveling on Highway 40 in Roosevelt, they were forced to pull over by Cesspooch into a local business parking lot located within Roosevelt. R. 557-558. Cesspooch then attempted to extort Plaintiffs. R. 557-558.

A short time after Plaintiffs refused Cesspooch's extortionist demands, Director Wopsock sent correspondence accusing Plaintiffs of submitting false and inaccurate official tribal, state and federal documents. R. 558. On March 20, 2015, Wopsock demanded that all oil and gas companies cease doing business with Plaintiffs. R. 558. Wopsock's demands were not limited to Ute Tribal lands. R. 558.

Newfield cooperated and complied with Wopsock's directives and, by email dated March 22, 2013, informed Plaintiffs that it would no longer utilize their Products. R. 558. This was not limited to business conducted on Ute Tribal land, R. 558, and the situs of Plaintiffs' business operations is exclusively outside of Ute Tribal land. R. 554-555. Newfield has also refused to do business with any third party who utilizes Plaintiffs' Products. R. 559. Newfield has informed Plaintiffs that it will not do business with Plaintiffs or work with anyone who does business with Plaintiffs based on their cooperation with the UTERO officials.¹ R. 559. Newfield's cooperation with the unlawful and *ultra vires* actions of tribal officials in blacklisting and boycotting Plaintiffs is the direct and proximate cause of substantial damages to Plaintiffs. R. 559. Plaintiffs discussed this matter with Cesspooch who was unable to provide Plaintiffs with a single

¹ UTERO officials and tribal officials are used interchangeably throughout this brief.

reason why the UTERO officials terminated Plaintiffs' businesses, and had Plaintiffs blacklisted and boycotted by the local oil and gas industry. R. 559.

Cesspooch has threatened third parties that he would "shut down" their businesses if they leased any equipment from Plaintiffs. R. 560. Nelson Construction, Inc. informed Plaintiffs that Wopsock demanded that they not utilize Plaintiffs' rock crushing equipment that is located on private ground that is not on Ute Tribal land. R. 560.

UTERO officials have engaged in a pattern and practice of extorting money from area businesses by threatening to "shut down" their operations if the businesses do not pay the UTERO officials. R. 560. For example, Cesspooch, a convicted felon, has demanded 10% of area businesses' gross revenues in return for "keep[ing] them working and UTERO compliant." R. 560. UTERO officials dictate to oil and gas companies which contractors will be awarded bids and which contractors are not to be used. R. 561. These directives are not limited to work performed on Ute Tribal land, and have resulted in substantial harm to Plaintiffs' enterprises outside of Ute Tribal land. R. 562.

LaRose, at all relevant times, owned an interest in an oil & gas service company, LaRose Construction. R. 561. LaRose received bribes and work from Huffman, a competitor of Plaintiffs, in exchange for LaRose's abusing his position as a UTERO Commissioner and wrongfully diverting business from Plaintiffs to Huffman. R. 561. LaRose, L.C. Welding, and Scamp conspired to receive an economic interest in a sand and gravel pit located outside of tribal land which commenced operation after Plaintiffs were "shut down" by Wopsock, Cesspooch, and LaRose. R. 561. Wopsock, Cesspooch, and LaRose conspired to abuse their UTERO positions to destroy Plaintiffs' businesses in

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