Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2016

Ryan Uresk Harvey, Rocks Off, Inc. And Wild Cat Rentals, Inc., Plaintiffs/Appellants, vs. Ute Indian Tribe of the Uintah and Ouray Reservation, Et Al., Defendants/Appellees.

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- 1. The trial court correctly ruled that the Tribe did not waive its sovereign immunity by making an alleged general appearance. There are no reported Utah cases holding that an Indian tribe can waive sovereign immunity in that way. Plaintiffs rely on three foreign cases, only one of which even mentions general appearance. The trial court correctly found that in addition to not being controlling those cases were unpersuasive, either because they were devoid of discussion and citation to authority or because they were based upon actions by tribes that are markedly different from the actions undertaken by the Tribe in this case. Additionally, Utah law holds that "general appearance" is a concept applicable to personal jurisdiction, not subject matter jurisdiction. Tribal sovereign immunity is an issue of subject matter jurisdiction. Therefore, the Tribe could not have waived its sovereign immunity by making a general appearance.
- 2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling that the Tribe is a necessary and indispensable party to this action. The court was within its discretion in finding that the Tribe is a necessary party because, for the court to decide the Plaintiffs' claims, it would necessarily have to determine the scope of the Tribe's right to issue directives such as the one about which Plaintiffs complain. The court went on to find that whether the Tribe and its officials may issue such directives "is a critical interest of the

- Tribe." Next, the court properly ruled that because it lacks subject matter jurisdiction owing to the Tribe's sovereign immunity, the Tribe's joinder is not feasible. Finally, the court was within its discretion in ruling that all four factors to be considered by the court lead to the conclusion that the Tribe is an indispensable party.
- 3. Plaintiffs' "balance of interests" argument should be rejected by this Court, first, because Plaintiffs did not preserve the issue in the trial court. Following oral argument on Defendants' motions to dismiss, Plaintiffs moved for leave to file an additional memorandum that included the balance of interests argument. The court denied the motion. Plaintiffs have not appealed the trial court's denial of their motion for leave to file the memorandum. Instead, they present the balance of interests argument as if it had been allowed and considered by the trial court. This Court would therefore be the first to consider the unpreserved issue. Additionally, even if the issue had been properly preserved, the argument should be rejected because it is based upon erroneous factual and legal assumptions.
- 4. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Plaintiffs' motion for leave to file a supplemental pleading. The motion was filed several days after oral argument had been held on Defendants' motions to dismiss the Amended Complaint. The court acted within its discretion in finding that the motion was untimely and that allowing it would unduly prejudice the Defendants by forcing them to begin anew with their dismissal motions. The court also found that the motion was futile because none of the new allegations the Plaintiffs sought to include would change the facts that the Tribe is

immune from suit because of its sovereign immunity and the Tribe is a necessary and indispensable party.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>The Tribe Is Immune from Suit Because It Did Not Waive Sovereign</u> Immunity by Making a General Appearance or Otherwise.

Plaintiffs contend that the Tribe waived sovereign immunity by making a general appearance in the trial court proceedings. This argument is baseless. Plaintiffs admit that there is no Utah law supporting their position, and they have cited only cases from foreign jurisdictions that are readily distinguishable from the case at bar.

Indian tribes are not subject to suit unless a tribe has waived its sovereign immunity or Congress has expressly authorized the action. *Kiowa Tribe of Okla. v. Mfg. Techs, Inc.*, 523 U.S. 751, 754 (1988). The issue of sovereign immunity is a matter of subject-matter jurisdiction. *Ramey Constr. Co., Inc. v. Apache Tribe of the Mescalero Reservation*, 673 F.2d 315, 318 (10th Cir. 1982). The Supreme Court has described tribal immunity as a jurisdictional barrier to a court's exercise of judicial power. *United States v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 309 U.S. 506, 514 (1940). Tribal immunity applies to suits for declaratory and injunctive relief as well as those for damages, *e.g., Imperial Granite Co. v. Pala Band of Mission Indians*, 940 F.2d 1269, 1271 (9th Cir. 1991), and the immunity extends to activities occurring both inside and outside of Indian country, *Kiowa Tribe*, 523 U.S. at 760 (noting that the Court did not distinguish between on- and off-reservation activity in *Puyallup Tribe v. Dep't of Game*, 433 U.S. 165, 172-73 (1977)). While Tribes can waive sovereign immunity, a court cannot find waivers of tribal immunity by inference

or implication. Instead, to be enforceable a Tribe's waiver of immunity must be clear, explicit and unambiguous. *C & L Enters., Inc. v. Citizen Band Potawatomi Indian Tribe*, 532 U.S. 411, 418 (2001); *see also Santa Clara Pueblo v. Martinez*, 436 U.S. 49, 58 (1978). In determining the issue of waiver, a court cannot consider perceived inequities under the facts of the particular case. *Ute Dist. Corp. v. Ute Indian Tribe*, 149 F.3d 1260, 1267 (10th Cir. 1998).

In the Tribe's Motion to Dismiss Amended Verified Complaint and its supporting memoranda, the Tribe argued for dismissal pursuant to U.R.C.P. 12(b)(1) on the ground that the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the Tribe because the Tribe had not waived sovereign immunity. (*Mot. to Dismiss Am. Verified Compl.* at pp. 4-8) (R. at 1317-21); (*Reply Mem. Supporting Mot. to Dismiss Am. Verified Compl.* at pp. 2-4) (R. at 1410-12). In response, the Plaintiffs argued that the Tribe had waived sovereign immunity through the UTERO Ordinance and by making a general appearance. (*Judg.* at p. 5, ¶ 6) (R. at 2045)¹. The trial court ruled in favor of the Tribe on all waiver issues and concluded that it therefore lacked subject matter jurisdiction. (*Id.* at pp. 3-6, ¶¶ 4-7) (R. at 2043-46). Plaintiffs have not appealed any of the trial court's rulings regarding the Tribe's alleged waiver of sovereign immunity, except the issue of whether the Tribe waived it by making a general appearance. Therefore, if this Court upholds the trial court's ruling on that issue,

⁻

¹ As discussed in the above Statement of the Case, the trial court entered four Rulings and Orders on March 28, 2016, and entered its Judgment on May 12, 2016. The Judgment is identical to the four Rulings and Orders in all material respects. Plaintiffs have appealed from the Rulings and Orders and the Judgment. Because the Judgment is the trial court's final order, Defendants will refer to that document throughout this brief.

the trial court's dismissal of the action against the Tribe on sovereign immunity grounds must be upheld.

Prior to the January 29, 2016 hearing on Defendants' motions to dismiss the Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs had not offered any authority on the issue of the Tribe's alleged waiver of sovereign immunity through a general appearance. (Id. at pp. 6-7, \P 8) (R. at 2046-47). At oral argument, however, Plaintiffs' counsel argued this point and presented the court with three previously uncited cases. The court permitted introduction of the cases, but allowed Defendants the opportunity to address those cases in a supplemental response which Defendants filed on February 5, 2016. (Id.) (R. at 2041); (Id.) (I

On February 8, 2016, Plaintiffs filed a Motion and Memorandum for Leave to Brief, for Clarification of Order, and Related Relief ("Motion for Leave to Brief") (R. at 1483). The Motion was filed several days after oral argument. (Judg. at p. 7, ¶ 9) (R. at 2047); District Court Clerk's Certificate and Index of Record on Appeal at p. 9.). The trial court pointed out the untimeliness of the motion, (Judg. at pp. 7-8, ¶ 9) (R. at 2047-48), but nevertheless considered "the cases belatedly cited by the Plaintiffs" (Id. at p. 8, ¶ 10) (R. at 2048). The court found that the cases were all distinguishable from the case at bar and failed to support Plaintiffs' argument. (Id. at pp. 8-10) (R. at 2048-50).

Plaintiffs have presented the same three cases on appeal. The trial court's analysis of the cases was correct and its ruling should be upheld.

In *Friends of East Willits Valley v. County of Mendocino*, 123 Cal. Rptr. 2d 708, 711 (Cal. Ct. App. 2002), the court stated as follows:

In a prior unpublished decision we rejected initial challenges to trial court jurisdiction over the [Sherwood Valley Rancheria] Tribe, concluding that because the Tribe has made a general appearance, it waived its sovereign immunity.

This case fails to support Plaintiffs' position, first, because it does not cite any authority and does not discuss what the tribe in that case did that led the court to conclude that it had made a general appearance. Absent any discussion or any citation of authority it is also impossible to determine whether California law regarding general appearances is consistent with Utah law. Accordingly, the trial court in the case at bar ruled that, "The California Court's decision is not controlling and because it contains no discussion and cites no authority, it cannot be persuasive." (Judg. at p. 9, ¶ 11) (R. at 2049). Additionally, the Tribe in Friends of East Willits Valley had expressly waived sovereign immunity by entering into a Tribal/County Agreement. Friends of East Willits Valley, 123 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 715. The trial court in the present case therefore found as follows: "Thus, in the face of an express waiver contained in the written agreement, it is difficult to determine how much consideration was given to the issue of waiver by general appearance or whether the two were one in the same in that instance." (Judg. at p. 9, ¶ 11) (R. at 2049).

Plaintiffs' next case, *United States v. Oregon*, 657 F.2d 1009 (9th Cir. 1981), was decided upon facts critically different from those in the present action. In that case, the court held that the Yakima Tribe had waived its sovereign immunity when it intervened in the case to establish and protect its rights. *Id.* at 1014. "By successfully intervening, a party makes himself vulnerable to complete adjudication by the federal court of the issues in the litigation between the intervener and the adverse party." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). In the present case, in contrast, the Ute Tribe has not intervened but was

made a defendant by Plaintiffs. While the Yakima Tribe successfully sought to become a party to the *Oregon* case, the Ute Tribe is an unwilling party to this case and has done no more than attempt to have the case dismissed. Furthermore, the *Oregon* court did not base its holding exclusively upon the Yakima Tribe's intervention, but also held that the tribe had expressly consented to the suit by written agreement. *Id.* at 1015. The court does not say what relative weights it gave to the tribe's intervention and to its express consent to the suit. The latter ground is irrelevant to Plaintiffs' "general appearance" argument, and in any event the Ute Tribe did not consent to this suit in writing or otherwise.

The *Oregon* court did not discuss the issue of wavier of tribal sovereign immunity by general appearance, but limited its discussion to Rule 24 intervention by an Indian tribe. There is no basis for Plaintiffs' attempt to expand the application of *Oregon* beyond cases in which a tribe intervenes. The trial court in the present case correctly ruled that, "The Ute Tribe in the present case did not voluntarily intervene, rather, it is an involuntary defendant in the action. Thus, the holding in *Oregon* has no bearing on this Court's decision." (*Judg.* at p. 10, \P 13) (R. at 2050).

Plaintiffs also rely on *Nushake, Inc. v. State Comp. Ins. Fund,* No. CGC-05-441299, 2011 Cal. Super. LEXIS 319, at *1 (Cal. Super. Ct. April 29, 2011). There, the court held that the tribe in question had waived sovereign immunity, but the court did not base its holding on a finding that the tribe made a general appearance. In fact, like *Oregon*, the case does not mention general appearances. Rather, the *Nushake* court held that the tribe had waived sovereign immunity by explicitly waiving it in multiple provisions of two settlement agreements. *Id.* at **35-40. The court further found that the tribe had waived

sovereign immunity when it "appeared before this Court seeking affirmative relief." *Id.* at **40-41. As instances of the tribe's seeking affirmative relief, the court said that the tribe had "initiated, directed and controlled the [plaintiff] against [the defendant]" and had "sought to enforce the settlement." *Id.* at **40-42. *Nushake* then does not support the claim that a tribe may waive sovereign immunity through a general appearance, but stands for the view that a tribe may waive sovereign immunity by seeking certain types of affirmative relief including seeking to enforce settlement agreements in which it had explicitly waived sovereign immunity.

In the present case, the Tribe did not initiate the litigation or control the plaintiff, and did not seek to enforce any agreement or otherwise seek affirmative relief. Instead, the Tribe has been sued and has limited its efforts to the purely defensive measure of moving for dismissal based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *Nushake* says nothing to suggest that the Ute Tribe's participation in this case is on a par with initiating and directing the litigation or seeking to enforce a settlement agreement in which sovereign immunity is expressly waived.

Of Plaintiffs' three cases, only *Friends of East Willits Valley* mentions general appearance, and that case cited no authority. At most, therefore, Plaintiffs' cases show that in some foreign jurisdictions certain kinds of conduct – initiating a lawsuit and directing and controlling the plaintiff throughout the litigation (*Nushake*); attempting to enforce a settlement agreement (*Nushake*); or intervening in a case (*Oregon*) – may result in a waiver of sovereign immunity. The Ute Tribe has engaged in none of those types of conduct.

Finally, regardless of what Plaintiffs' cases may have held, it is clear that under Utah law the Tribe could not have waived sovereign immunity by making a general appearance. As noted above, the issue of sovereign immunity is a matter of *subject-matter* jurisdiction. *Ramey Constr. Co.*, 673 F.2d at 318. However, "[t]he doctrines of 'general' and 'special' appearance ... are associated with *personal* jurisdiction only." *Curtis v. Curtis*, 789 P.2d 717, 725 n.17 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (emphasis added). The court explained as follows:

The crux of William's argument was that Lauralee waived her jurisdictional challenge by appearing and litigating the custody question in Mississippi. Though this might be a legitimate argument against a personal jurisdiction challenge, it is not against a subject matter jurisdiction challenge, and to entertain a dispute, a court must have jurisdiction over both the subject matter of the dispute and the individuals involved. If the court lacks either type of jurisdiction, it has no power to entertain the suit.

Id. at 726. Plaintiffs therefore cannot use the general appearance doctrine to avoid the trial court's lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The trial court correctly ruled that the cases cited by Plaintiffs fail to support their position and that the Tribe must therefore be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

II. <u>The Trial Court Acted Within Its Discretion in Ruling that the Tribe Is a Necessary and Indispensable Party to this Action.</u>

Plaintiffs also contend that the trial court erred in ruling that the Tribe is a necessary and indispensable party.

A. <u>Plaintiffs Must Prove that the Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Order to</u> Have Its Decision Reversed.

"[A] trial court's determination properly entered under Rule 19 will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion." *White v. Jeppson*, 2014 UT App 90, P 10, 325 P.3d 888, 891 (quoting *Seftel v. Capital City Bank*, 767 P.2d 941, 944 (Utah Ct. App. 1989)).

As shown below, the trial court acted within in discretion in dismissing the Amended Complaint pursuant to U.R.C.P. 12(b)(7) because (1) the Tribe is immune from suit for the reasons discussed in Section I above; and (2) the Tribe is a necessary and indispensable party to this action under U.R.C.P. 19.

B. <u>U.R.C.P. 19 Governs Issues of Necessity and Indispensability of a Party and Requires that the Court Perform a Three-Step Analysis.</u>

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